JOHNNY LEE FRYSON,

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant below, and will be referred to as petitioner in this brief. A three volume record on appeal, including transcripts, is sequentially numbered at the bottom of each page, and will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Attached hereto as appendix A is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which will be referred to as "App. A". Attached hereto as appendix B is an affidavit of the Parole Services Director of the Parole and Probation Commission.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By indictment filed August 8, 1985, petitioner was charged with first degree murder, two counts of attempted first degree murder, and one count of armed burglary of a dwelling; all counts alleged the use of a shotgun on July 27, 1985 (R-1-2). On May 15, 1986, petitioner entered no contest pleas in exchange for a life sentence on the murder (R-204-206; 208-209; 268-87).

On June 4, 1986, petitioner was sentenced to the following state prison terms: For first degree murder, life in prison with a 25 year minimum mandatory; for each count of attempted first degree murder, life in prison, to run consecutive; and for armed burglary, life in prison to run concurrently; he was given credit for time served of 312 days (R-219-25). These sentences constituted a departure from the recommended guidelines range of 22-27 years (R-226). The court entered written reasons for departure (R-239-41).

The First District affirmed petitioner's sentences and certified a question to this Court. On June 1, 1987, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed.

-2-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The prosecutor's factual basis at the plea revealed that the victim, Shelley Glover, was shot in the back of the head with a shotgun while watching T.V. in his house. His wife Ann, and son, Peter, ran out of the house and were hit with shotgun pellets. The assailant stood outside the window and shot Mr. Glover through the window in the back of the head. Petitioner admitted pointing the gun through the window and shooting Mr. Glover. He also admitted shooting towards the woman who was running away (R-277-83).

At the sentencing hearing, the emergency room physician, David Anthony Horvatt, Jr., testified that Ms. Ann Glover came in and was treated for multiple pellet wounds in her back and arms. None of these caused significant injury. The wounds were dressed and she was discharged. Dr. Horvatt also treated Peter Glover, age 11, for similar pellet wounds. Peter's lung had collapsed and it was reinflated and the boy was kept in the hospital for several days (R-299-306).

Deputy Sheriff Harry Chaires identified photos of the victim at his house, which photos were entered into evidence without objection. He also testified that the victim was shot by someone holding a gun through the window (R-306-314). Peter Glover, age 12, testified that he was sleeping on the floor while his father and mother were watching T.V. His mother awoke him and said his father had been shot. They ran out the

-3-

door and across the highway. Both were hit and his mother fell. Peter ran on to a neighbor's trailer (R-315-23).

Deputy Sheriff John Livings testified that he took a taped statement from petitioner which was entered into evidence without objection and played for the court (R-323-36).

The following witnesses testified on behalf of petitioner. David Kinley Siegerson, Jr., testified that he worked as a legal intern for the Public Defender Office during the summer of 1985. He interviewed petitioner at the jail after his arrest. Petitioner was very nervous and upset and looked like he was in shock (R-337-43).

Jefferson County Probation Officer Andy Rhodes testified that he prepared a presentence investigation on a grand theft charge in January 1985. His report contained a statement from petitioner's employer, Mr. Tuten, who related that petitioner was a good employee. Petitioner's sister, Pauline Jones, and Assistant Public Defender Brian Hayes both said petitioner had never been in trouble before. Petitioner had stolen a saddle from Doyle Conner's ranch, because he had not been paid for some work he had done. Petitioner had completed the ninth grade. Rhodes verified that petitioner had no prior record and was 21 years of age. Petitioner lived with his sister and grandparents. Both residences were wooden shacks, . . . "typical Jefferson County type dwellings" (R-344-55).

Eli Norton, Jr., Assistant Principal of Jefferson County High School, testified that he had petitioner in homeroom and also seventh grade math class. Petitioner was a quiet

-4-

individual who always wanted to be a cowboy. He was very proud of his vocation. He never was violent. His family was hard working people (R-359-60). Howard Middle School Principal Pink Hightower, Jr., testified that he taught petitioner in elementary school. While Pink was assistant principal of the high school, he knew petitioner was sleeping in class because he worked all night. Petitioner's mother died when petitioner was in the first or second grade (R-363-67).

Ted Warmack, Chaplain of the Leon County Jail, testified that petitioner became involved in religious services in jail. Petitioner professed to be a born-again Christian (R-367-71). Sergeant Tony Carroll, classification officer at the jail, testified that petitioner was placed in maximum security due to his offense. He later reclassified petitioner down to medium security because petitioner was a very quiet and non-violent person (R-372-75).

James N. Tuten, owner of the Monticello Stockyards, testified that petitioner had a job hauling, pinning, and working cattle. Petitioner was a hard worker and was paid the minimum wage (R-376-80).

Robert M. Berland, forensic psychologist, testified that he evaluated petitioner. He determined that petitioner had brain tissue damage which caused chronic paranoid thinking. Petitioner's IQ was below normal. Petitioner's condition could be treated with psychotropic medication (R-381-90). Petitioner's crimes resulted from an aggressive impulse caused by his mental illness (R-394). Jefferson County Deputy Sheriff Mike

Joyner testified that he witnessed the statement given by petitioner during which petitioner became upset and cried (R-401-403).

The prosecutor argued for a departure from the recommended guidelines range (R-403-10). Petitioner's counsel argued against departure, based on the mitigation witnesses (R-410-35). The court imposed the sentences noted above (R-441-433). Petitioner's counsel objected to the departure (R-444-45). The court entered the following reasons for departure:

1. Count 1 of the Indictment charged the defendant with the capital felony of First Degree Murder. The defendant has been adjudicated guilty of that offense. The capital felony constitutes a clear and convincing reason for departure in Counts 2, 3 and 4.

2. The offenses for which the defendant was convicted were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without pretense of moral or legal justification as evidenced by the finding of facts as outlined above.

3. The offense of First Degree Murder was carried out with particular cruelty in that the offense was committed in the presence of the victim's wife and son.

4. The defendant fired the second shot after he had accomplished his initial purpose, striking the wife and son as they fled evincing a flagrant disregard for the safety of others.

5. The defendant committed the offenses by using a shotgun firearm.

6. A guideline sentence is not commensurate with the defendant's crimes.

(R-240). The court also used the following language, which is

the subject of the certified question:

This Court further finds that any one of the enumerated reasons for departure constitutes a clear and convincing reason for departure from the presumptive sentence and compels this Court to impose the maximum penalty provided by Section 775, Florida Statutes as to each count of the Indictment.

(R 240).

On appeal, the First District found reasons # 2,4,5,and 6 to be invalid (App.A at 4-5). It approved reason # 1 and 3 (App.A at 4). It affirmed because the sentencing judge used the language, just quoted above, in his order, but certified the question (App.A at 5-6).¹ The court also found that it did not have the power to review the extent of the departure (App.A at 6-7). The court further found that the sentences did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment (App.A at 7-8). This timely review follows.

¹This same question is also pending review in <u>Reichman v.</u> <u>State</u>, #69,801, oral argument set for September 4, 1987, and in <u>Griffis v. State</u>, #69,800.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The undersigned will present the same argument in this brief that was presented in <u>Reichman</u> and <u>Griffis</u>, i.e., that sentencing judges should not be permitted to employ "boilerplate" language in their departure orders, because such language invites the appellate courts to lessen their standard of review, and because such language has been twice rejected by this Court as a part of the guidelines rule.

Petitioner will also argue that the two reasons for departure, which were approved by the lower tribunal, should be reexamined by this Court and declared to be invalid. One, that petitioner also was convicted of first degree murder, cannot be construed to allow a departure up to the maximum because petitioner is already being sentenced to life in prison without parole and without gain time. The other, that the murder was witnessed by a teenage boy, is neither clear nor convincing.

Petitioner will also argue that the First District was totally wrong to hold that it could not review the extent of the departure. It so held because the point was not preserved before the sentencing judge or because an intervening statutory change precluded such review. Petitioner will argue that neither is a basis for denying extent of departure review, and that the issue is of constitutional proportion.

Petitioner will close by arguing that his three consecutive (and one concurrent) life sentences constitute cruel and

-8-

unusual punishment because they exist without eligibility for parole or gain time. The First District did not adequately analyze this constitutional issue.

Petitioner will ask that his sentences be reversed.

.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

A TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENT, MADE AT THE TIME OF DEPARTURE FROM THE SENT-TENCING GUIDELINES, THAT IT WOULD DEPART FOR ANY ONE OF THE REASONS GIVEN, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER BOTH VALID AND INVALID REASONS ARE FOUND ON REVIEW, DOES NOT SATISFY THE STANDARDS SET FORTH IN <u>ALBRITTON V.</u> <u>STATE</u>, AND MAY CONFLICT WITH THE HOLDING IN <u>STATE V. MISCHLER</u>.

Prior to addressing the certified question, petitioner wishes to discuss the two reasons for departure which were found to be valid by the First District. That court approved reason # 1, finding that petitioner's contemporaneous conviction for first degree murder constituted a valid reason for departure because it was not assessed points on the sentencing guidelines scoresheet. There are two problems with this holding.

First, petitioner is being punished twice because he was convicted of first degree murder. He is not getting a free ride for that crime. He was sentenced to life in prison with a mandatory minimum 25 years. He should not be punished again by

²Curiously, another panel of the First District, without acknowledging the pending certified question in any of these cases, only B days after the instant opinion, has held that the trial judge's statement "is not binding on this court's review of the sentence". <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 12 FLW 1228, 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA May 14, 1987).

allowing the imposition of consecutive life sentences as a departure from the guidelines.

Second, petitioner's life sentence for first degree murder is without parole and without gain time. According to an affidavit of the Parole Commission, attached hereto as Appendix B, which was filed in the record in the pending capital case of <u>Etheria Verdell Jackson v. State</u>, # 69,197, at R 127,³ the Parole Commission presently takes the position that a sentence for any crime, including a life sentence for first degree murder, is not subject to parole eligibility.

Such a sentence is not presently subject to gain time either, notwithstanding Section 921.001(8)(b), Florida Statutes. Section 944.275(2)(a), Florida Statutes, permits gain time only for a prisoner whose sentence is for a term of years, thus excluding life sentences from its operation. Another statute, Section 944.30, Florida Statutes, permitted the Department of Corrections to commute a life sentence to a term of years if the prisoner had served 10 years of his life sentence without any difficulties. The problem with this statute was that it was totally discretionary with the department, and no administrative rules had been promulgated to facilitate its operation. This statute was amended by Ch.

-11-

³Petitioner asks this Court to take judicial notice pursuant to sec. 90.202(6), Fla. Stat. The issue in <u>Jackson</u> is whether the advisory jury should be told that a life sentence is really a life sentence. See Issue II of the initial brief in <u>Jackson</u> at 29-34.

86-183, sec. 23, Laws of Florida, to allow the secretary of the Department of Corrections to recommend clemency for life prisoners, in his sole discretion, after July 1, 1987. This amendment is no better than the original version.

Thus, petitioner received a mandatory life sentence for first degree murder, without parole and without gain time. The contemporaneous conviction for first degree murder should not be allowed to permit wholesale departures from the guidelines.

As to reason #3, it is based, in part, again upon the fact that petitioner committed a first degree murder. Petitioner argued below that if it is valid at all, it should be construed in combination with reason #1. The other part of reason #3, the presence of the murder victim's wife and son at the time of the murder, was approved on authority of <u>Casteel v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1986). However, <u>Casteel</u> is distinguishable.

In <u>Casteel</u>, the defendant was not convicted of any crime against the boy who saw his mother being sexually assaulted by the defendant. Here, Petitioner was convicted of crimes against the victim's wife and son, two counts of attempted first degree murder, which were assessed points on the scoresheet. The damage to the son and the wife should not be permitted to be an acceptable reason for departure where they are also the victims of a charged offense. <u>Casteel</u> is not on point.

The lower tribunal approved reason #3 because "the boy witnessed the brutal slaying of his father..."(App. A at 4). This finding has no factual basis in the record, and is refuted by the record. The boy testified that he was asleep when his

-12-

father was shot, did not wake up at the sound of the shotgun, but rather awoke only when roused by his mother (R 319-20). See especially R 322:

Q. You were asleep when all of that happened?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And, in fact, you really didn't know what had happened except for what your mother told you. Is that right?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. You didn't see any of it?

A. No, ma'am.

This Court has established that the facts underlying the reasons for departure must be credible and proven beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986).⁴ Here, the facts were neither. This Court should strike from reason #3 the conclusion that the boy witnessed the shooting of his father.

The same is true with regard to the judge's finding "that the offense was committed in the presence of the victim's wife" (App. A at 3). The wife did not testify at the sentencing hearing. The lead investigator testified that he did not know whether the wife was present:

Q. And Ann Glover was also on the floor of the room when this incident occurred. Correct?

⁴This Court has refused to recede from this heavy standard. <u>Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure re Sentencinq</u> <u>Guidelines</u>, 12 FLW 162 (Fla. April 2, 1987) (part II at 163). A. I did not personally interview Mrs. Glover as to her whereabouts. I could only draw an opinion as to where she was at, you would have to ask her.

(R-330).

One further comment with regard to reason #3. The sentencing judge found the son witnesses the murder of his father, which we have shown was not proven. The First District transformed this language to say that the son "witnessed the shoot~ ing of his mother" (App. A at 4). This is not the same thing that the judge found. <u>Casteel</u>, supra, 498 So.2d at 1252, teaches that the appellate court has no power to substitute its findings for that of the sentencing judge. Reason #3 must be stricken.

In the event this Court rejects the foregoing arguments and approves reason # 1 or 3, petitioner will proceed to address the certified question. It must be answered in the negative for two reasons---an affirmative answer would allow the trial judge to overrule this Court's decisions in <u>Albritton</u> <u>v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985) and <u>State v. Mischler</u>, supra, and an affirmative answer would make a mockery of appellate review of departure sentences.

Taking the second reason first, we have seen, in the last three years, a multitude of cases from the District Courts of Appeal which have struggled to determine what reasons are clear and convincing so as to allow departure from the recommended guidelines range, and to determine how to dispose of a case once the reasons are struck. If the question is answered in

-14-

the affirmative, that body of case law will be lost, because the sentencing judge, with the mere mumbling of "boiler plate language", will be able to send this message to the reviewing court: "Don't bother scrutinizing my reasons, because even if you reverse me and order me to resentence this criminal, he will get exactly the same sentence". Such a result would, admittedly, be an easy solution to the District Court's dislike of the guidelines, but such a result would make a mockery of appellate review.

This Court will recall that from the inception of the quidelines, some sort of appellate review was thought to be necessary, in order to maintain the stated purposes of the guidelines in encouraging uniform sentencing while, at the same time, allowing individualized sentences where appropriate. The original idea was to impanel a group of three circuit judges to act as the reviewing body. Circuit judges were chosen because they would be familiar with the usual sentencing practices around the state. This idea was scrapped when it was realized that such a three judge panel would not be workable, or would require a constitutional amendment to authorize another level in the court system. The job of reviewing departures was dropped on the doorstep of the District Courts of Appeal. Sections 921.001(5), 924.06(1)(e), and 924.07(9), Florida Statutes.

The District Courts did not appreciate this increase in their workload. For example, Judge Nimmons of the First District expressed his displeasure of this trend in terms of

-15-

percentages in Williams v. State, 484 So.2d 71, note 1 (Fla.

lst DCA 1986):

A review of Florida Law Weekly, which publishes all Florida appellate court opinions, shows that there has been a steady increase in the number of opinions in which sentencing guidelines issues have been raised and addressed. (The Second District Court of Appeal recently referred to the "steadily mounting number of judicial interpretations of what the sentencing guidelines mean," Mora v. State, 11 FLW 436 (Fla. 2d DCA February 14, 1986). In early 1985, 9 percent of the total number of opinions issued from the appellate courts of Florida were guidelines cases -- this does not include Florida Supreme Court cases. That percentage has increased to the point where, for the past two months (January and February 1986), guidelines opinions have constituted 17 percent of the total number of opinions written by the Florida appellate courts. As reflected in Florida Law Weekly, Volume 11, numbers 109 (covering the first two months of 1986), 117 of the 676 DCA opinions -- or 17 percent -- were quidelines opinions. 80 percent of the 117 guidelines opinions discussed no other issues than guidelines issues. The above figures do not include dispositions without opinion, such as per curiam affirmances.

Judge Upchurch of the Fifth District expressed his displeasure in terms of numbers in <u>Bullock v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 857 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986):

> This is yet another appeal from a sentencing guidelines departure. Since the sentencing guidelines were adopted and the first case reached this Court in 1984, there have been over 750 opinions filed from the Florida Supreme Court and the five District Courts of Appeal.1 This statistic does not reflect the per curiam affirmed cases.

1 Of those cases, over eighty
percent involved alleged sentencing
guidelines errors as the sole point
on appeal.

Some of the District Courts reacted to the pressure by holding that any one valid reason was enough to affirm a departure sentence, and by holding that they had no power to review the extent of the departure. See, e.g., <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 320 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). This Court properly quashed both of these notions in <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985), and instructed the District Courts to employ extent of departure review⁵ and to reverse unless the state could show beyond a reasonable doubt that the sentence would have been the same without the invalid reasons.

The District Courts were not happy with the test expressed in <u>Albritton</u>, and continued to certify the <u>Albritton</u> question even after <u>Albritton</u> was decided, see, e.g., <u>Ochoa v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), and to criticize <u>Albritton</u>, see, e.g., <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 494 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Now enter the boiler plate language, which petitioner suspects was designated to overrule both prongs of <u>Albritton</u>. As a part of the package of revisions to the guidelines rule submitted by the Guidelines Commission to this Court in 1985, to be ratified by the legislature in 1986, was the following:

⁵The legislature has overruled this portion of <u>Albritton</u> by Ch. 86-273, Section 1, Laws of Florida. But see Issue II, infra.

Expand the committee note to (d)(11) by the addition of the following "Where deemed sentencing: appropriate, the sentencing courts may include the following language in the written statement articulating the reasons for departures: If one or more of the foregoing reasons for departure are determined, upon appellate review, to be impermissible, it would still be the decision of this Court to depart from the guidelines recommended sentence, upon the basis of the remaining permissible reason or reasons, and to impose the same sentence herein announced.

The Florida Bar Re: Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing

<u>Guidelines, 3.701, 3.988</u>), 482 So.2d 311, 312 (Fla. 1985). This Court quickly realized the danger of approving such language:

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