IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY LEE FRYSON,

JUL 7 1287

CLERK, CHARLECOUR

Petitioner,

Case No. 70,631

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY L. PRINTY Fla. Bar #363014 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

(904) 488-0290

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent accepts the preliminary statement of Petitioner as set forth in the brief on the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the statement of the case and facts set forth in the brief on the merits with the following supplement.

The trial court conducted a special evidentiary hearing at sentencing in order to comply with this court's decisions.

(R 297) (R 404) The State offered testimony that Fryson had to reload his shotgun to shoot the second round at the victim's wife and son. (R 335) (R 405) (R 435) (R 441) The mother received minor flesh wounds after being shot by Fryson. (R 300-301) Peter Glover, the victim's ten year-old son suffered a collapsed lung and required hospitalization for five days. (R 301-303)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I - A trial court judge does not abuse the discretion still afforded him under the sentencing guidelines when he includes a statement of intent to depart for any one or all of his listed reasons for departure. This is especially so whe e one of those reasons has been unanimously affirmed by the Supreme Court of Florida. The district court below correctly held that the Respondent had established beyond reasonable doubt that the trial judge would have departed based on the commission of a first degree murder and the fact that the records supports a finding of emotional trauma inflicted upon the mother and the son arising from extraordinary circumstances which are clearly not inherent in the offense charged.

Respondent will also argue that the trial court's finding that the offense was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner constitutes a sufficient reason for departure under this record. This Court has held that facts similar to these are sufficient to show the heightened premeditation for imposition of the aggravating factor of cold, calculated and premeditated in a capital case. This Court never created a per se rule of reversible error in reviewing a departure from the recommended range.

II - The imposition of three consecutive life sentences in exchange for the State not seeking the death penalty is not

excessive. A claim of ex post facto is based on constitutional grounds and must be raised before the trial court or it may not be considered on appeal. In any event the trial court did not err in insuring the survivers of this cold and calculated heinous crime that Johnny Fryson will never leave the Department of Corrections.

III - A cold calculated premeditated murder followed by the two attempted murders in this case precludes a finding of cruel and unusual punishment under a constitutional analysis.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY INCLUDING A STATEMENT OF INTENT TO DEPART FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES FOR ANY ONE OR ALL VALID WRITTEN REASONS AS ONE METHOD OF COMPLYING WITH THE ALBRITTON RULE.

Petitioner claims that the trial judge's statement of intent to depart for any valid reason overrules the standard of appellate review ennunciated by this court in <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985) and conflicts with <u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986).

Petitioner's argument makes no sense at all. Petitioner claims the statement by the trial judge is boiler plate language but offers no evidence whatsoever for this "finding". He presents no proof that Judge McClure included this statement in every departure order. Nor does he cite an objection by trial counsel into the inclusion of the statement based on the specific ground that this is boiler plate language and as such is insufficient proof of intent to depart as required by Albritton, supra. The only other possibility of complying with the Albritton test would appear to be a motion to relinquish jurisdiction to the trial court for a similar written finding as was done in Cave v. State, 445 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1984). The

inclusion of this statement of intent to depart is the most economical use of judicial resources.

The use of the statement of intent in this situation is analgous to the "clear and unequivocal choice made on the record" required of a defendant who elects guideline sentencing for a crime committed prior to October 1, 1983. See Pentaude v. State, 500 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987). A simple yes or no answer is apparently sufficient to bind a defendant to a departure sentence which the legislature has now decreed shall be limited only by the maximum penalty provided by law without the possibility of Section 921.01(5), Florida Statutes (1986 Supp.) parole. is no reason why a similar clear and unequivocal statement of intent to depart from the guidelines for any one valid reason should not be afforded this same legal affect. An appellate court which doubts the trial court conscientiously entered the statement can merely reject all reasons given as insufficient based on this record. Such was the case in Scurry v. State, 489 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1986). Petitioner argues that the language used by the trial judge was uttered for the nefarious reason of overruling this court's holding in Albritton. Petitioner cannot

See Justice Ehrlich's comments regarding the "resort to mind-reading" needed to determine whether the trial judge would have departed had he known then what we know now about his written reasons for departure. Casteel v. State, 498 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1986). There is obviously no need to read Judge McClure's mind in this case.

argue that the trial judge did not "conscientiously weight relevant factors" in imposing sentence without engaging in mere speculation. Reversable err may not be predicated on mere speculation. Jacobs v. Wainwright, 450 So.2d (Fla. 1984).

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has held that a death sentence would pass musture as long as one statutory aggravating factor was present, (a finding of fact by the trial judge) even if non-statutory aggravating factors have improperly been considered. See Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939 (1983) and also this courts holding in Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998, 1002-1003 (Fla. 1977). The trial judge's statement of intent to depart can no more be considered boiler plate than the languae used in imposing a sentence of death which states "there are sufficient aggravating factors which out-weight any factors in mitigation".

Indeed, given the enormous numbers of individual sentencing proceedings which take place under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701 it would literally be impossible to require what amounts to a separate penalty phase in each guidelines case to establish a departure. Respondent notes however, that this is precisely what was done in this case. This Court should not forget that defendants seeking to mitigate their sentence must also establish clear and convincing reasons beyond a reasonable doubt that a departure downward is warranted Mischler, supra. It is interesting that capital defendant's must only prove statutory

mitigating factors by a preponderance of the evidence.

Respondent also disagrees with the First District Court's conclusion below that premeditation is an improper basis to depart from the sentencing guidelines on the facts of this case. Respondent presented evidence to the sentencing court concerning Johnny Fryson's actions prior to the crime and during the commission of the offense which clearly justify a conclusion that Fryson had the heightened premeditation necessary to support a finding in aggravation on cold, calculated and premeditated. See Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985) wherein the court approved a finding of cold, calculated and premeditated based on the following facts:

Appellant waited for the victim to leave work, confronted him in the parking lot and shot him twice. victim managed to flee approximately one hundred feet before he was cut down by gun fire to his head and back. order for all of the shots to be fired appellant had to reload his revolver, affording him time to contemplate his actions and choose to kill his These facts are sufficient to victim. show the heightened premeditation for imposition of this aggravating factor. Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla.) cert.denied, 105 S.Ct. 396, 83 L.Ed.2d 330 (1984).

The State presented evidence that Fryson had to pump the shotgun and insert a second shotgun shell before firing at Ms. Glover and her ten year-old son, Peter. (R 405) This case presents a stark

example of what is wrong with appellate review of the sentencing quidelines reasons for departure in the First District. Court is merely checking the phraseology to determine if this court or any other court has approved or disapproved of the language and then following suit. In Scurry, supra the defendant had been acquitted of premeditated murder and found quilty of second degree murder. Therefore the jury finding belied the trial court's conclusion of premeditation. Here there has been no jury trial and the facts before the trial judge clearly establish that heightened sense of premeditation necessary to justify the imposition of this aggravating factor. Perhaps it would be a different situation if the mother and daughter in this case were injured by spray from the same shotgun blast that killed Shelly Glover. However, that is not the case. Fryson had to take that extra step to attempt to kill Ms. Glover and her son.

v. Mischler, supra based on the First District Court of Appeal holding in Rousseau v. State, 489 So.2d 828, 829 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Petitioner and the First District have obviously confused this Court's holding in Mischler. This so-called conflict has been resolved in State v. Rousseau, 12 F.L.W. 291 (Fla. June 11, 1987). This Court should affirm the sentence below under the Albritton test.

ISSUE II

THE EXTENT OF THIS DEPARTURE IS NOT REVIEWABLE BY THIS COURT.

Petitioner argues that the crime for which he was sentenced occurred before July 9, 1986, the effective date of the amendment to Section 921.001(5), Florida Statutes (1986 Supp.), and therefore application of this amendment violates the prohibition against ex post facto laws. Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24 (1981).

In <u>Miller v. Florida</u>, 482 U.S. ______ (1987) the United States Supreme Court held that Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701 is substantive law and has the force and effect of statutory enactments. The original guidelines did not contain a provision for review of the extent of the departure. Therefore this Court was without jurisdiction to review the extent of the departure cause this langauge in <u>Albritton</u> constitutes a substantive amendment to the guidelines by the judiciary branch instead of the legislature. <u>Albritton</u> was wrong at the time it was decided and may not be applied to Fryson for this reason. See <u>Banks v.</u> State, 342 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1976) where this Court held:

This Court has long been committed to the proposition that if a sentence is within the limits prescribed by the legislature, we have no jurisdiction to interfere. Id at 470. Accord, Brown v. State, 13 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1943); Weathington v. State, 262 So.2d 724 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972), cert.denied, 265 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1972), cert.denied 411 U.S. 968 (1973).

Respondent submits that although Florida Statutes 921.001(5) and Section 924.006(e) provide for appellate review of sentences imposed without the recommended range, such review must necessarily be limited to evaluation of the trial court's conformity to procedures for departure pursuant to the expressed provisions of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701, and should not be extended to matters which have been consistently held to be not subject to appellate review. Banks v. State, supra.

Finally the district court below did not err in concluding that Fryson's failure to present the ex post facto claim to the trial court barred appellate review. In <u>Silver v. State</u>, 188 So.2d 300 (Fla. 1966) this Court directly criticized the First District for its indulgence in reaching a constitutional claim on appeal which was not first presented to the trial court after this Court noted that such issues should be barred. The Court stated:

This circuitous method of bring to the Supreme Court a constitutional inquiry cannot be approved. It is an attempt to circumvent a trial court despite the former rulings that an appellate court would disregard questions not presented to trial courts. . . . Furthermore, the Court said "matters not presented to the trial court by the pleadings and evidence will not be considered by this court on appeal.

Id. at 301.

The ex post facto claim advance for the first time before the appellate court is barred from consideration on direct appeal and rule 3850 motion for post-conviction relief. Silver, supra and the Florida Bar Re: Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure (Rule 3.850), 460 So.2d 907 (Fla. 1984).

ISSUE III

THE SENTENCES IMPOSED HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Petitioner argues that the imposition of consecutive life sentences without possibility for parole or gain time, violates the Eighth Amendment. Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983). In Solem v. Helm, the defendant received a life sentence without parole after committing his seventh non-violent felony. Helm had uttered a no account check for \$100.

Here, Fryson committed one cold blooded vicious murder and attempted to commit two more via the transferred intent to kill the mother which was visited upon the son. This case exemplifies the legislature's policy toward killers approved in State v.
Edmund, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1985). The Court in Solem v. Helm
noted that:

Reviewing Courts, of course, should grant substantial difference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in determining the types and limits of punishments for crimes, as well as to the discretion that trial courts possess in sentencing convicted criminals. . . First we look to the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty.

Id. at 290-291. Petitioner argues that Minnesota would do it differently. Minnesota does not utilize the utimate sanction of death and therefore, Respondent can only suggest that people like Johnny Fryson move to Minnesota. Petitioner will not be executed

under this sentence and so every breath he draws is a gift from the state.

The sentence imposed serves a valid societal need to insure the survivors of this heinous murder that Fryson, who is only twenty-four years-old will never ever leave incarceration. Young Peter Glover should be free to go to sleep at night without fear that Johnny Fryson will return to finish his crime. The legislature would surely agree.

CONCLUSION

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and hold that the trial court's statement of intent to depart at the time of sentencing satisfies the standard of appellate review of a sentencing guidelines departure. This Court should refuse to review the extent of departure. A sentence designed to insure that a vicious murderer never leaves prison is not cruel and unusual. This is especially true where the State foregoes seeking a death penalty.